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INTRODUCTION

The Nailsea Glassworks, in its time regarded as one of the most significant glassworks in the
UK, was established in 1788 and was operated under a number of owners until 1873, when it
ceased production, formally closing the following year.

The  site  was  ‘sold  on’  at  least  three  times,  and  in  the  end  it  appears  to  have  been  sold
piecemeal.    Before  this  however,  in  1905  it  seems  that  the  then  owners  had  the  idea  of
demolishing  the  cones  in  particular  and  selling  the  bricks.    Local  tradition  has  it  that  this
enterprise  largely  failed,  and  that  the  remaining  demolition material  is  reputed  eventually  to
have  been  transported  to  north­west  Bristol  to  be  used  as  land  fill  for  the  extension  to  the
runway  at  Filton.    This  was  in  order  to  accommodate  the  anticipated  additional  take­off
distance  required for  the ‘Brabazon’ prototype airliner  that was being developed  there  in  the
early 1950s.

This was rather an ignominious end to an enterprise that in its own way, in its day, was equally
deserving of credit and was equally overtaken by events as was the ‘Brabazon’.

The site apparently was quite derelict for a number of years, and was partially developed both
before and after the Second World War, and there were repeated suggestions from local people
that some restoration or at least preservation of the remaining structures should be attempted.
For  whatever  reason  these  plans  did  not  come  to  fruition,  probably  because  commercial
interests and  considerations,  both private  and public, had  a greater  influence on  the  situation
than that of a few local enthusiasts.  There was not the same interest in the historic environment
as now, and even now there are suspicions that our present Government is not as supportive as
it might have seemed to be in prospect only a few years ago.

There were a number of development proposals for the site between the later 1980s and the turn
of the twentieth century, with varying degrees of sensitivity to the historical value of the site,
and archaeological interventions were carried out in response to each.

The  one  that  came  to  fruition was  that  by Tesco  Stores,  Limited,  and  they  have  generously
sponsored  this Study  from Avon Archaeological Unit.    In  turn, Andrew Young,  head  of  the
Unit asked the present writer to undertake the project.

The Study is in five principal parts, and it is intended that while making up a cohesive whole
each may be considered in its own right.  For this reason there will be some duplication of plans
and bibliographies for example, so the reader who wishes to keep track of some detail does not
have too much cross­, or back­, referencing to do.

First is the Introduction, which will cover some general points not specifically addressed in the
subsequent parts.

Part 1 is a Desk­top Study.  It is disturbing to note that this had not been required earlier, as it is
now usual practice, before any archaeological intervention preceding development takes place,
to  commission  a  desk­top  study  to  attempt  to  determine  the  archaeological  sensitivity  and
potential  of  the  site.    For  those  not  familiar  with  the  term,  a  short  description  might  be
appropriate.    Briefly,  it  consists  of  examining  historical  records  in  the  form  of  maps,
documentation, aerial photographs, etc, considering the landscape in which the site  is set and
any known or inferred archaeology in the vicinity.  Hopefully this will result in a document that
will  focus  the  attention  of  the  responsible parties  involved  in  order  to  establish what,  if  any
archaeological  intervention  is desirable,  and,  if  it  is  judged necessary,  its  extent.    It  is  in  the
form usually adopted by the Unit.
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Part 2 examines  the archaeological  interventions chronologically.    In order  to add value, and
admittedly with the benefit of hindsight and without having to translate fieldwork in to a report
under pressure, this has been done critically, as certain errors were detected.  It was felt that, if
the document was to be useful, these should be commented on in order that the evidence might
hopefully be more meaningful overall.

Part  3  looks  at  the  technology,  starting with  a  necessarily  brief  look  at  the  history  of  glass,
gradually narrowing  the  focus down with  time  from a world view  to an European view  to a
British view, finally considering what was done, as far as is known or can be extrapolated, at
Nailsea itself.  It is hoped that this section will not only be intelligible to the general reader, but
will also be of value to the specialist.

Part  4  takes  a  brief  look  at  the  social  and  economic  effects  of  the  introduction  of  a modern
manufacturing  facility  in  to  a  largely  rural  community,  and  how  it  fitted  in  to  the  wider
economic  picture.   Not  only  the  introduction  but  also  the  demise  of  the  glassworks will  be
examined.

The intention from the outset has been that this whole study would be made freely available on
the world­wide web.  It is hoped that it will have achieved its purpose to illuminate as much as
possible what has been done in, by and to the Nailsea Glassworks.

Acknowledgements  with  respect  to  the  total  project  are  given  at  the  beginning  of  this
introduction.   The  support,  from busy professionals  and  amateurs  alike has,  in  general,  been
very encouraging.  It should be noted that the views expressed are those of the writer.

Where possible original documents have been sought out, in order to check secondary sources,
but this has not always been feasible.  As far as possible, if the information was not available
about Nailsea itself, histories of other glassworks were examined for parallels, and a judgement
made as to their applicability.  It is hoped that the end result will have added something to our
overall  understanding of what happened at Nailsea.    It  has  been written,  hopefully, with  the
general  reader  in  mind,  as  the  specialists  will  undoubtedly  know more  than  the  writer.    If
something  has  not  been  clear  to  the writer  he  has  sought  an  explanation –  in  any  instances
where this is not the case it will generally not be for the want of searching for an answer.  There
are still some details that are a puzzle, especially in the Old House Cone.  It is to be hoped that
one day someone will find the missing pieces of the jigsaw.

What  became very  clear was  that  the  early  part  of  the  nineteenth  century was  an  extremely
vibrant time for the glass­making industry, even though it was in many respects hamstrung by
Excise regulations, and handicapped by punitive duties.  These do not always appear logical at
this remove, some two hundred years later, but presumably they made sense to the legislators at
the time.

It is vital that the reader remembers that all we have, in effect, are a few stills from a motion
picture that ran, in the case of Nailsea, for eighty­five years.  We have very limited cartographic
and documentary evidence on which to draw, such limited company documentation as survived
being destroyed in an air­raid in World War II, and the archaeology was, at times, with
hindsight admittedly, not as well focussed as it might have been, possibly because there was no
formal desk­top study commissioned at the outset.

It is very evident, when examining what evidence we have as well as the histories of some of
the  other  glassworks  that were  broadly  contemporary with Nailsea,  that  there was  continual
experimentation,  often  probably  empirical:  building,  trying  out;  implementing  if  it  worked,
demolishing  and  trying  another  tack  if  it  didn’t.    So,  while  we  can  make  certain  limited
assumptions about the works based on the archaeology, we must not delude ourselves that we
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can construct a  reliable chronology of  the structural  forms of,  and  technologies employed  in,
the Nailsea Glassworks.  While the cones themselves were probably a fairly constant part of the
Nailsea skyline  for some fifty years, before closure, what happened in and around  them may
only be surmised with some difficulty and less certainty.   The result  is  a very broad­brushed
canvas.

Readily available coal is commonly given as the reason for the glassworks coming to Nailsea.
It  is  also  suspected  that  Lucas  maybe  wanted  to  be  away  from  Bristol  to  avoid  industrial
espionage.  [It is interesting to note that despite this separation of the works from Bristol, there
was still  a significant staff  in Bristol  in 1836/7, and we have  invoices  issued  from Bristol  in
1846.]  It is probable that there were attractions in a green­field site, but there were difficulties
in the way with respect to extending enclosure on Nailsea Heath.  It is regarded by the writer as
significant that the proposed canal to Taunton from the River Avon, which would also connect
to  the  south  coast  had  an  arm  proposed  not  only  right  in  to  Nailsea,  but  right  up  to  the
glassworks, “to  serve mines  and works”2.    It  was  not merely  proposed;  the  route  had  been
surveyed and planned and the land had been bought by the Canal Company “for the purpose of
a canal cut to the works”3.  Although this was just after Lucas established himself at Nailsea, no
doubt  it would have been some  time  in gestation, and  it  is difficult  to believe  that  it did not
come in to his calculations.  This would have given the Nailsea works a real edge, with ready,
smooth waterborne transportation to transhipment, either to America and the colonies, but also
to Ireland, and elsewhere in the UK.  The export market was lucrative, as we shall see.  If the
land holdings of Lucas are any indication, he had his eye on Nailsea for some time in much the
same way as some overseas companies view development areas in the UK now.  He died,  in
1828, a relatively wealthy man for his  time, so there was probably not much wrong with his
business acumen.  We are told that on his death his estate was valued at £90,000.

The end of the glassworks seems to have been a bit protracted.  The coal ran out, we are told,
but there is a strong suspicion that there was not, in the later years the effective management
that some competitors enjoyed.  There was no strong family line such as sustained Pilkington,
Chance  and  Hartley,  which  was  probably  why  the  capital  investment  was  not  adequate  to
ensure viability in a period of considerable change and development, coupled with increasing
customer expectations as to product quality and price.  The canal had not been built, because
the railway arrived, but the railway was some way from the works.  There was no question of a
purpose­built branch line.  It would appear that in the end Chance Brothers bought the works to
keep  it  out  of  the  hands  of  any  competitor  of  theirs  who  might  be  prepared  to  make  the
necessary investment.  This was admitted by Sir Hugh Chance in notes lent to R Vincent, who
was  writing  a  book  about  ‘Nailsea  Glass’.    They  made  a  token  effort  to  maintain  its
productivity, but closed it eventually.

1. THE FOUNDER AND HIS FAMILY

It  is  generally  accepted  that  a Robert  Lucas,  originally  from Worcestershire4,  a ‘hooper’,  or
cooper, but obviously successful, moved to Bristol, ran a beer and cider works and had shares
in a glassworks  at Limekiln Lane, Bristol  (see Part 1, p.6, Figure 1.3,  and cover  illustration,
Part 4).  He obviously saw the value in having an interest in a business (glass bottle making)
that was directly relevant to his product.  He was married to Elizabeth Butler, and they had four
children who reached maturity: Ann, Mary, John Robert and Sarah.

                                                
2 Lucas Papers ­ SRO DD/SB Box 11, Bundle 3, (vi) Abstract of Title of the Company of Proprietors of the
Bridgwater and Taunton Canal to certain lands situate in Nailsea ...
3 Ibid., 11/3 (i)
4 Thomas, 1987, gives Bromsgrove, while Chance, 1968, gives Hanbury
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Robert  Lucas  died  in  1774,  aged  70.    John  Robert  Lucas  (born  18th  December  1754,  the
eleventh  of  twelve  children)  succeeded  to  his  father’s  business  interests  in  1775  as  the  only
surviving son.  His mother died in 1780, aged 64.

Ann married Henry Pater, Mary married Edward Homer and Sarah married William Chance.

The  eldest  surviving  son  of  the  latter  couple,  Robert  Lucas  Chance  (born  8th  October1782)
married  a  cousin,  Louisa  Homer,  daughter  of Mary  and  Edward.    The  Homer  and  Chance
families,  ironfactors of Birmingham, had become established social and business connections
before the Lucas family moved to Bristol.

On 3rd September, 1781 John Robert married Anna Adams at Chelwood Church.

Figure 1: John Robert Lucas  by  W A Hobday

© Bristol Museums & Art Gallery

The  Limekiln  works  produced  bottles,  as  did  that  at  Stanton  Wick,  an  old­established
glassworks south of Bristol.  Lucas took a lease on the latter in 1787, following the bankruptcy
of the previous operator, John Adams.   It is not known if there was any relationship between
Anna and John Adams, but her father, William, bought the freehold of Stanton Wick in 1815.5

[Lucas  is  described  as  surrendering  the  lease  in  1815  (Buchanan  &  Cossons),  or
1816,(Thomas).  Bath & North East Somerset SMR BN2247 records that “The works existed
from the late 17th Century until 1818 when fifteen local families of workers were transferred to
                                                
5 Thomas, 1987, p.2.
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Nailsea to work at the parent company there.   This  reflects on Nailsea, but  the detail has not
been pursued.]

In 1788 Lucas took a lease on land at Nailsea Heath in order to establish a glassworks there.
(Following  his  father’s example,  he was  already  in partnership with  coal mining  interests  in
Nailsea, and in due course this paid off handsomely.)    In  the meantime he was attempting to
divest himself of his Bristol business connections, apart from warehousing in Nicholas Street6.
[It is believed that this is now St Nicholas Street, in the City.  The present Nicholas Street is on
the edge of Knowle (SE Bristol).  Of all the maps showing street names that are displayed in
the Bristol City Museum only one, Matthew’s New and correct Plan of 1815, gives ‘Nicholas
Street’ in the city.  Otherwise, from 1581 until 1780 and then from 1826 onwards it appears as
‘St Nicholas Street’.]  It seems that at this time he was in partnership with Pater and Coathupe,
and started trading as “Nailsea Crown Glass and Glass Bottle Manufacturers”.  It would appear
that Pater,  a brother­in  law, was principally  a guarantor  for  loans  taken out  by Lucas,  rather
than an active partner.

In a  transcript of a  letter, dated 21st October 1958, Sir Hugh Chance writing  to H St George
Gray,  states,  “ My  uncle’s  Family  History  has  a  manuscript  note  that  Lucas,  Chance  &Co
owned  the  Elton, Miles  Glassworks  in  Bristol  in  1806,  but  he  does  not  give  his  source  of
information.”    However,  in  his  paper  of  July  1968,  he  notes  from  the  private  accounts  of
Chance and Homer 1771­1812 (Birmingham University Library), “the works in Bristol ‘lately
purchased of Elton, Miles and Co.’ .”  This has not been followed up, as not bearing directly on
activities at Nailsea.

John and Anna Lucas had three children, but their eldest son, John, died in 1817, aged 33.  A
daughter,  Louisa,  had  already  died  in  1807,  aged  16.    A  second  daughter,  Emma,  married
Reginald Bean (died 1848, aged 51), and they had two sons, John Rodbard and Henry Lucas.  J
R Bean became Bean­Rodbard on inheriting property from an uncle.

Robert Lucas Chance, having been in his father’s business in Birmingham, had, by 1810, shares
in the works at Nailsea, and in 1811 came to manage them, and [as mentioned above] married
Louisa on 7th May that year.  He seems to have been a dynamic character; the frontispiece of J
F Chance’s book of 1919 shows a very handsome and lively looking individual.  The story is
told how, in 1812, he posted to Dumbarton and got James Hartley, regarded at the time as the
Crown  glass  expert  in  the  UK,  out  of  bed,  and  brooking  no  argument  haled  him  down  to
Nailsea.  In 1815 he sold his shares and left Nailsea for London to become a glass merchant.  In
1824 he bought a glassworks at Spon Lane, near Birmingham, and persuaded Hartley to join
him there in 1827, on the expiry of Hartley’s contract with Nailsea.  It appears that this might
have caused some ill­feeling in the family.  He seems to have been known as Lucas Chance at
Spon Lane.7

The following year, 1828, John Robert Lucas died on 15th July.  The major part of his estate
passed to his Bean grandsons, being held in trust by their father.

2. A CHRONOLOGY ­ VARIOUS TRADING TITLES, ETC.

The  following chronology  is derived  from a number of sources: notes  from The story of  our
village,  1980,  in  a  folder “Nailsea  Glassworks – History &  Importance”,  held  in  archive  at
Weston­super­Mare Museum, three pages of typescript notes in the SMR 2397 papers (NAILSEA
GLASSWORKS after the death of J. R. Lucas., NAILSEA GLASSWORKS DEEDS and HISTORY OF NAILSEA
                                                
6 Ibid., p.4.  See Part 3:Technology, Appendix 4, last page: Wages to “other departments in Bristol” are almost  of
the weekly total.]
7 Chance, J F, 1919, p.2
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GLASSWORKS) none of which have any date or attribution, “Notes on the Nailsea Glass Works, H
St  George  Gray,  The  Connoisseur, March  1923,  and  notes  on  John  Robert  Lucas  by  B  J
Greenhill, held   at  the SRO, Thomas, M, The Nailsea Glassworks, and Chance, J F, 1919: A
History  of  the  Firm  of CHANCE  BROTHERS  &  CO.    Where  there  have  been  occasional
discrepancies a judgement has been made: for example, Gray had sight of some of the papers
relating  to  the  company,  from Mr R B Bean,  son  of Henry  Lucas  Bean,  while  Chance  had
access to the Chance company archive.

1788: We have already seen how  the company  started  as “Nailsea Crown Glass and Glass
Bottle Manufacturers” .

1793: “Lucas, Chance, Homer and Coathupe

1807: Partnership renewed – capital of £60,000.  “J. R. Lucas owned £33,000, William Chance
and  Edward  Homer  £8,500  each  and  William  Coathupe  £10,000.    The  property
comprised  the glasshouses  at Nailsea  and Stanton Wick;  the  counting  and warehouses
(leasehold) in Nicholas Street, Bristol; and the works in Bristol lately purchased of Elton,
Miles and Co.”8  [The latter already mentioned above.]  William Coathupe is described
as “of the City of Bristol, Glass Manufacturer” and J R Lucas as “of Westbury College”
[Westbury­on­Trym, Bristol] from an “Assignment of two several terms of 500 years &
1000 years”, dated 5th November 1817, identified as (xiv) in Box 14 of the Lucas Papers
(SRO DD/SB).

1821: Expiry of the original partnership.  W Chance sold his shares, and E Homer part of his, to
William Coathupe.    James  Edward Homer,  a  son  of  Edward Homer  was  taken  in  to
partnership.  The firm then traded as “Lucas, Coathupe and Homer”.  Edward Homer
remained  in partnership until his death  in 1825, having retired  from active business  in
1807.

1833: Nailsea in the second rank of Crown houses and in the year to 5th January 1833 paid over
£31,000 in Excise duty.

1835: Executors of J R Lucas (20) formed a partnership as “Lucas, Coathupes, Homer and
Cliffe”  with  three  Coathupes  [William  (5),  C  T  (10),  O  (10)],  J  E  Homer  (10)  and
Thomas  Cliffe  (5)  for  nine  years,  until  H  L  Bean  came  of  age.    Shareholdings  in
parentheses.

1844:  Firm  becomes “Coathupes & Co.”,  partners  (with  holdings)  being Charles  Thornton
Coathupe  (£12,000), Oliver Coathupe  (Bristol manager)  (£12,000),  J R Bean­Rodbard
(£9,000), H L Bean (£9,000) and J E Homer (retired 1846) (£6,000)9.  A billhead dated
20th  February  1846  describes  them  as  “Manufacturers  of  Crown  Window  Glass  &
Alcalis” (sic).

1848: C T Coathupe retired, Oliver Coathupe moved to Nailsea as works manager.

1854: A Richard Hadland and another took a lease for a few months.  He had attempted to start
production of  rolled  plate glass  at Eccleston, but  this  infringement  of  James Hartley’s
patent was challenged.   Hartley was  for  allowing him  to proceed with manufacture  at
Nailsea, but this was not acceptable to the other licence holders.10

                                                
8 Chance, Sir H, 1968, End­note 9
9 Ibid., End­note 20.
10 Chance, J F, 1919, pps.77­79
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1855:  Isaac  White,  [another  White,  James,  (relationship  not  determined)  had  been  in
partnership  with  J  R  Lucas  in  coal  mining  in  Nailsea]  bought  O  Coathupe’s  shares.
From the extant pattern sheet (see Figure 3.20, below) it would appear  that  the trading
title  was  “Isaac  White  &  Company”  at  the  ‘Nailsea,  Crown,  Sheet  &  Plate  Glass
Works, NR  Bristol.’

1857: J R Bean­Rodbard sold out to his brother, H L Bean.

1861: White could not make the works pay and they were shut down for a while.

1862:  Early  in  this  year  the  works  were  leased  by  Isaac White  and  Henry  Lucas  Bean  to
Samuel Bowen, glass merchant of West Bromwich,  in partnership with John Powis of
London.    Now  trading  as  “Nailsea  Glass  Company”,  and  making  patent  ventilating
glass, cut glass and coloured glass  for stained glass windows the firm’s notepaper was
headed “The Nailsea Crown, Sheet and Plate Glass works.”  According to a reproduction
of a newspaper  item, dated Sept. 1862, on display at  the Scotch Horn Centre, Nailsea,
“an accident has occurred at the Nailsea Glass Works which will throw the workmen out
of employ for at least three weeks to come.   It appears that at the end of last week the
crown of the furnace fell in, damaging a quantity of metals, &c., but fortunately without
injuring anyone.  The damage is stated to be considerable and the crown will have to be
re­erected  before work  can  resume.”    From Eyres’  recollection  it  was  that  event  that
marked the end of crown glass manufacture at Nailsea.

1865:  “Nailsea  &  Stourbridge  Glass  Company”,  around  this  time,  or  possibly  slightly
earlier.11

1867: Nailsea freehold sold to Hartleys of Sunderland.12

1869: Bowen became bankrupt and he and Powis surrendered the lease.13

1870:  May  19th,  sold  to  Chance  Bros.  of  Smethwick,  Birmingham,  for  £14,000.14    This
included the coal mine in the northern holding and a lease to work coal and clay.15

1873: Production ceased in May.

1874: “in March such workmen as remained were paid off and the works closed.”  However an
interest was retained in the colliery until 1876.

Finally, “Although  the works were  stopped,  the property  remained  first  on  the  firm’s hands,
and  then on  those of  its  three senior partners,  for a number of  years.    It was valued  in April
1876 at £3250; thirteen acres of land at £750, the house at £500, thirty­four cottages at £2000.
Morgan [the former colliery manager] was paid £1 a week for collecting the rents of these and
for looking after the buildings and remaining plant.  In 1885 Forster found all in good order and
all  the  cottages but  two occupied.   By  a  conveyance dated 9th May 1889,  John Chance  took
over sole ownership and before long sold the property.”16 This was presumably at the auction
advertised on 25th  July 1889, after which  the whole property was  sold by Chance  to Samuel
Davis in a conveyance dated 14th October 1889.  On the death of Samuel Davis “the land and

                                                
11 Note in Scotch Horn Display, Nailsea; Eyres, J M, Extract from Autobiography; see Part 3 Fig. 3.18, for labelled
glass sample
12 Chance, J F, 1919, p.106
13 Ibid.
14 Ibid.
15 Chance, Sir H, 1968, p.35.
16 Chance J F, 1919, pps. 108­9
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hereditaments  known  as  Nailsea  Glassworks”  was  sold  by  his  trustees  to  Joseph  James  in
October 1905.

CONCLUSION

It may seem a little strange to have a ‘Conclusion’ in, or to, the ‘Introduction’, but the modular
form of the Study seems to make this the logical place to put it.  The whole exercise has been,
for the writer at least, a fascinating experience,  the more so as it was not something that was
ever envisaged as coming in to my remit.    I am certain that there may be further information
concealed out there, but time, with which Andrew Young has already been most generous and
understanding, will not allow further work.  At times it has felt like trying to unravel a tangled
skein of wool, with  several  loose  ends  all  demanding  investigation,  and  it  has  at  times been
difficult to decide which were the important ones.

Glass is such a ubiquitous material, of great use and convenience to man [unless you stumble
on it inadvertently in its broken form], and its use predates that of iron.  The period of existence
of  the works  at Nailsea was  an  insignificant  time  span  compared with  that  of  the  history  of
glass, but it was of significance in its time to a lot of unknown and unrecorded people as well as
to those who are known and recorded.  For whatever reason Nailsea will for long be associated
with the forms known as ‘Nailsea Glass’.  It is only to be hoped, therefore, that the reader will
find in this study something of interest, and maybe something new that encourages him or her
to explore the subject further, be it through the archaeology, the technology, or whatever.

The  conclusion  may  be  best  expressed  in  the  closing  words  of  the  National  Trust  sheet
associated with  the  display  of ‘Nailsea Glass’  at  Clevedon Court.    Referring  to  the  Nailsea
Glassworks  it  states,  “their  remains might  well  have  been  regarded  as  eminently  worthy  of
preservation  in  the  Industrial  Archaeology  of  England.”   With  which  sentiment  the  present
writer is in full accord.
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